
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          August 28, 2007 
                                                                                                                                Page 1 of 7 

 City Council Minutes 
City of Palmer, Alaska 

                      Regular Meeting 
August 28, 2007 

 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER 
 
A regular meeting of the Palmer City Council was held on August 28, 2007, at 7 p.m. in the 
council chambers, Palmer, Alaska. 
 
Mayor Combs called the meeting to order at 7 p.m.  
 
B. ROLL CALL 
 
Comprising a quorum of the Council, the following were present: 
 

 Jim Wood  John Combs  Tony Pippel  
 Kathrine Vanover  Brad Hanson   Richard Best  
 Ken Erbey 
            
Also in attendance were the following: 
  

 Tom Healy, City Manager 
 Michael Gatti, City Attorney 
 Janette Bower, City Clerk 
 
C. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Council Member Best.  
 
D. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

1. Approval of Consent Agenda  
a. Introduction – Ordinance No. 07-018: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Section 

17.08.215, Hearing Officer Definition; Section 17.72.080 Appeal, to Refer Appeals to 
a Hearing Officer; and Enacting Chapter 17.98, Appeals to a Hearing Officer (IM 07-
039) 

b. Introduction – Ordinance No. 07-021: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 
17.76, Variance, Whereby All Variance Requests are Heard Before the Planning and 
Zoning Commission and Establish a Variance Appeal Process (IM 07-040) 

c. Introduction – Ordinance No. 07-023: Amending Palmer Municipal Code Title 17, 
Zoning, by Enacting Chapter 17.49 A-M Airport Mixed Use District (IM 07-038) 

d. Introduction – Ordinance No. 07-024: Repealing Palmer Municipal Code Chapter 
8.08 Health Administration (IM 07-041) 

e. Introduction – Ordinance No. 07-025: Appropriating $5,000 for Dissemination of 
Public Information and to Influence an Election Concerning Matanuska-Susitna 
Borough Proposition 1 Scheduled for the October 2, 2007, Regular Municipal 
Election (IM 07-042) (Public hearing scheduled for September 4, 2007, at 12 p.m. in 
the Palmer City Council Chambers) 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          August 28, 2007 
                                                                                                                                Page 2 of 7 

2.   Minutes of Previous Meetings  
a. August 14, 2007, Regular Meeting 
b. August 21, 2007, Special Meeting 
 

E. COMMUNICATIONS AND APPEARANCE REQUESTS 
 

1. Mimi Pippel – Palmer Arts Council  
Ms. Pippel reported on the following items: 

• July 20 event scheduled at the Palmer Depot and the bill stemming from the event; 
• Difficulty using the Depot for events; 
• Goal of  improved economic development within the core area; 
• Pre-paid rental fees; 
• Palmer Arts Council continues harassment by the City; 
• Receipt of a tax form although the organization holds a non-profit certificate; 
• Public use of the Depot; and 
• Need for customer service by the Finance Department. 

 
F. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION  
 
G. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
Item 1 – Public Hearing – Ordinance No. 07-022: Repealing Palmer Municipal Code Section 
2.04.050, Absences; Amending Section 2.04.061, Vacancies, to Enact Language Regarding City 
Council Member Absences (IM 07-035) 
 
Mayor Combs opened the public hearing for ordinance no. 07-022. There being no one who 
wished to speak, the public hearing was closed and the matter was brought before the council. 
 

MOVED BY: Hanson To adopt ordinance no. 07-022 
SECONDED BY: Best 

 
Council Member Pippel: 

• questioned the use of teleconferencing; 
• commented on the permissible use of teleconferencing by four council members at one 

meeting; 
• spoke of the previous lack of quorum; and 
• commented on the need for a full council and stated that service on the council must 

override other events.  
 
Attorney Gatti: 

• spoke of conformance with the State Open Meetings Act language regarding 
teleconferencing; 

• commented on the outcome of the Fairbanks Utilities Case regarding the lack of ability to 
amend the language; 

• spoke of council discretion and activity; 
• commented on council absences and request to be physically absent from the City; 
• spoke of the use of teleconferencing in the public and private sectors; 
• expanded on the definition of “excused” as a failure to request in advance the absence be 

excused;  



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          August 28, 2007 
                                                                                                                                Page 3 of 7 

• spoke of failure to perform prescribed duties; and 
• described the violations in Alaska Statute Title 15 as election offenses.  

 
Council Member Wood: 

• inquired of any provisions which mandate teleconferencing equipment be supplied;  
• inquired of the reporting council absences; and 
• requested a guide indicating the types of excused absences.  

 
Council Member Erbey: 

• asked of council “policing” powers;  
• described the ultimate judge(s) of the council as the constituents; and 
• inquired of State language governing candidacy. 

 
Mayor Combs: 

• commented on the use of teleconferencing for special meetings; and 
• stated each person must look within themselves to determine if their actions fit within the 

law.  
 
Council Member Hanson: 

• inquired of the identification of unexcused absences;  
• commented on the process for declaring an absence; and 
• recommended the declaration of absences be treated as a course of business.   

 
City Clerk Bower: 

• described the process of declaring an absence and the reporting of absences on record; 
and 

• highlighted the code language regarding “moral turpitude”. 
 
City Manager Healy: 

• spoke of the notification of absences.  
 

Primary Amendment #1 
Moved by: Combs To amend subsection 2.04.061 M to read: 

 
Original language: 
M. If a member misses three consecutive regular 

meetings unless excused by the council; or  
 

Amended language: 
M. If a member misses three regular meetings 

unless excused by the council from the 
approximate election year of October 1 
through September 30 of the following year; 
or 

Seconded by: Vanover 

 
Mayor Combs: 

• commented on the lack of participation demonstrated by three consecutive 
unexcused absences. 
 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          August 28, 2007 
                                                                                                                                Page 4 of 7 

City Clerk Bower: 
• spoke of the election dates and inquired of the administration of the 

proposed dates.  
 
Attorney Gatti: 

• commented on the ordinance language which provided recognition of 
more than three absences within a council member’s term; 

• described the disruption of the people’s business should a council member 
miss three consecutive meetings; and 

• recommended the language be maintained as structured.  
 
Council Member Hanson: 

• voiced support of the language regarding consecutive meetings; and 
• commented on the applicability of the language for a member who 

habitually misses meetings.  
 

Vote:  Motion FAILED by 1-6 voice vote. 
Yes: No: 

Combs   Pippel Erbey Vanover 
   Wood Best Hanson 

 

VOTE ON MOTION: Carried by 6-1 voice vote. 
Yes: No: 

Erbey Vanover Wood Pippel   
Best Hanson Combs    

 
H. BIDS  
 
I. ACTION MEMORANDA 
 
Item 1 – Action Memorandum 07-085: Authorize the City Manager to Enter Into a Grant 
Agreement with the Federal Aviation Administration for $236,276 for a Palmer Airport Master 
Plan Update, and Direct the City Manager to Prepare an Airport Fund Budget Amendment for 
$12,435 for Matching Funds 
MOVED BY: Pippel To approve action memorandum 07-080 
SECONDED BY: Vanover 

 
City Manager Healy: 

• stated the previous master plan had been completed in 2001; 
• highlighted the airport re-plat; and 
• commented on the remnant section line easements. 

 

VOTE ON MOTION: Carried by unanimous voice vote. 
Yes: No: 

Pippel Erbey Vanover    
Wood Best Hanson    
Combs      

 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          August 28, 2007 
                                                                                                                                Page 5 of 7 

J. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
K. NEW BUSINESS 
 
Item 1 – Alaska Railroad Tracks in Downtown Palmer 
 
Council Member Pippel: 

• voiced concern of wheelchairs getting caught in the railroad tracks; 
• highlighted his conversation with Tom Brooks at Alaska Railroad; 
• reported Mr. Brook’s statement regarding the decreased use of the tracks; 
• stated the tracks were worn and unsafe; 
• advised the City to work hand and hand with the railroad to address the issue; 
• commented on the vehicles mandated to stop at the tracks; 
• expanded on the proximity of the closest track at the Industrial Park; 
• announced the Railroad’s agreement to remove the tracks in the Depot vicinity at their 

expense; 
• commented on the need to coordinate with Colony Christmas and other events who use 

the tracks; and 
• described the federal right-of-ways and the abandonment of those right-of-ways. 

 
Council Member Hanson: 

• voiced agreement with removal of the tracks.  
 
City Manager Healy: 

• spoke of the assessment of the railroad tracks around the Depot; 
• commented on the labeling of the tracks as historic; 
• described the track abandonment as a serious issue; 
• commented on the previous conversations held with Mr. Pat Gamble; 
• spoke of federal money used for the Urban Revitalization project; and 
• commented on the preservation of the corridor for future transportation/utility needs.  

 
Council Member Wood: 

• described the track as having no practicable use; 
• spoke of the preservation of the track surrounding the Depot as historic; 
• asked of the ability to condemn the railroad property; 
• inquired of the City’s ability to “trump” the Historic Committee.  

 
Attorney Gatti: 

• described the parameters surrounding condemnation; 
• commented on council discretion and council; and 
• highlighted the precedence set on use of the area as a trail.  

 
Mayor Combs: 

• commented on citizen difficulties in obtaining access to the downtown area; and 
• supported removal of the tracks. 

 
 
 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          August 28, 2007 
                                                                                                                                Page 6 of 7 

 
L. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
City Manager Healy reported on the following items: 

• Property acquisition of the two-acre property south of the Public Works shop property; 
• City lease of the 155-acre Borough property on France Road; 
• Runway protection zone property; 
• Health insurance; and 
• Palmer Urban Traffic Study.  
 

M. CITY CLERK’S REPORT 
 
City Clerk Bower reported on the following: 

• September 4, special meeting and noted the time of 12 p.m.  
 

N. MAYOR’S REPORT 
 
Mayor Combs reported on the following items: 

• Meeting with Mayor Keller regarding the Mat-Su Borough move to the City of Wasilla; 
• Senior Housing Ground Breaking; 
• Skateboard Park; and 
• Completion of 1800 hours of log time.  
 

O. RECORD OF ITEMS PLACED ON THE TABLE 
 

• Two citizen emails regarding Coal Bed Methane; and 
• City Manager report.  

 
P. AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION 
 
Q. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
Council Member Wood: 

• commented on the trees on Cope Industrial Way and thanked Council Member Pippel for 
his efforts; 

• asked for the support of another council member to direct the Administration to research 
and prepare a formal grant process for awarding money to non-profit organizations and 
other private entities based on merit, accountability, and the needs of the City. (Council 
Member Vanover offered her support); 

• asked for support of another council member to direct the Administration to repair the 
handicap accesses on Fireweed, in the vicinity of the Veteran’s and Pioneer Home, 
including repair of the filled in ditch across the driveway of the Veteran’s and Pioneer 
Home. (Unanimous consent was voiced for the request); 

• spoke of the on-going issue of the walkways and the inability of their use due to their 
disrepair; 

• requested information from City Manager Healy regarding the feasibility of completing 
the pedestrian walkway from Chugach, along the section line, along the soccer fields to 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
City of Palmer, Alaska                                                                                          August 28, 2007 
                                                                                                                                Page 7 of 7 

Job Corp. City Manager Healy commented on the need to obtain a public access 
easements; 

• spoke of the lack of required pedestrian ways in the City; 
• described the walkways as a life and safety issue; 
• stated the children in Brittney Estates walk in the streets due to the lack of walkways; and 
• asked that research be completed on the overall costs of pedestrian walkways in 

subdivisions. 
 
Council Member Best: 

• commented on the narrowness of the streets in Brittany Estates which precludes on-street 
parking; 

• spoke of continued use of on-street parking in the subdivision; 
• stated that persons riding their bicycles must go around the vehicles; 
• commented on the parking of multiple vehicles on the streets and his continued calls to 

the police department regarding the matter; 
• expanded on the habitual parking of vehicles and the subsequent accident involving one 

of the vehicles; and 
• commented on the double standard regarding parking regulations in the older part of 

Palmer which clearly did not allow on-street parking.  
 
Council Member Pippel: 

• commented on the lack of enforcement by City officials. 
 
Council Member Erbey: 

• commented on the increased traffic caused by the State Fair; 
• expanded on the need for additional work on the North/South corridor areas and 

encouraged the study of those areas; and  
• announced he would be out of state on September 24 and 25 and possibly the week 

before.  
 
Council Member Vanover: 

• thanked Council Member Pippel for his tree planting efforts; 
• requested a status of the Felton Street project; and 
• commented on the beauty of the City in the evening sun.  

 
R. ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business before the council, the meeting adjourned at 8:52 p.m.  
 
Approved this eleventh day of September, 2007. 

 
 
____________________________________ 

       John C. Combs, Mayor  
 
___________________________________ 
Janette M. Bower, CMC, City Clerk 
 

jbower
New Stamp

jbower
New Stamp


	City of Palmer, Alaska

